
222

SCHOOLS FORUM
Wednesday, 23rd September, 2015
at 3.30 pm

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING

Cantell Maths & Computing College 
Violet Road

Southampton SO16 3GJ
This meeting is open to the public

LEAD OFFICER
Dave Cuerden, Finance Manager
Tel : 023 8083 3878
Email : dave.cuerden@southampton.gov.uk

FORUM ADMINISTRATOR
Ed Grimshaw
Tel: 023 8083 2390
Email: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk



2

AGENDA

Agendas and papers are now available via the City Council’s website 
1  ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR 

To elect a Chair and Vice-Chair to the Schools Forum for the 2015-2016 Academic 
Year.

2  STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR 

3  APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY) 

4  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Pages 1 - 4)

Minutes of the meeting held on 24th June 2015, attached.

5  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer.

6  SOUTHAMPTON SCHOOLS FORUM CONSTITUTION 2015/ 2016 
(Pages 5 - 28)

Briefing report attached setting out proposed changes and updates to the Forum’s 
Constitution; attached

7  SECONDARY SCHOOL EXPANSION AND IMPROVEMENT 2015-2025 
(Pages 29 - 62)

Discussion Paper of the School Organisation and Strategy Manager, detailing 
considerations relating to secondary school expansion within the City, attached.  

8  UPDATE ON EDUCATION AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2015/16 AND 2016/17 
(Pages 63 - 64)

Report of the Interim Principal Officer for Education and Early Years setting out 
proposals for the Council’s spending priorities within the Capital
Programme for 2015/16 and future years, in line with Council priorities, attached. 



3

9  UPDATES TO SCHOOL FUNDING FORMULA 2016/2017 
(Pages 65 - 68)

Report of the Interim Principal Officer for Education and Early Years providing an 
update on school funding formula for 2016/17 on the basis of information provided by 
Department for Education, attached

15th SEPTEMBER 2015 HEAD OF LEGAL AND  DEMOCRATIC SERVICES





SCHOOLS FORUM
NOTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON

WEDNESDAY 24 JUNE 2015
WOODLANDS COMMUNITY COLLEGE 

Present:

Primary School Representatives 
Julie Swanston Woolston Infant School
John Draper Swaythling Primary School
Peter Howard Fairisle Junior School
Amanda Talbot-Jones St Denys Primary
Secondary School Representatives
Richard Harris Cantell School Governor – CHAIR
Jonty Archibald Regents Park Community College
Toni Sambrook Woodlands Community College
Ruth Evans Cantell School 
Special Schools Representatives 
Andy Evans Great Oaks School
Academy Representatives 
Anne Murphy St Anne’s Convent School
Sean Preston Hamwic Trust

David Turner Governor Townhill Infant School

Pupil Referral Unit Representative
Alison Parsons Compass School
Nursery Schools Representative
Anne Downie Startpoint Northam and Sholing
Non Schools Representative
Councillor Keogh Council Representative
Observers
Martin Brown The Sholing Technology College
Also in attendance:
Ed Grimshaw Democratic Support 
Councillor Jeffery Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s’ Social 

Care 
David Cooper SCC School Organisation & Strategy Manager 



David Cuerden SCC Finance 
Irfan Khan SCC Finance

1. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)

Apologies were received from Mark Sheehan (Mansbridge Primary, Sue 
Thompson (|Early Years and Sure Start), Robert Hardy (SCC – Principal 
Officer) and Peter Sopowski (TLP).

It was noted that the following Members had been appointed:
 Sean Preston –  from the Hamwic Trust as an academy 

representative
The following vacancies were noted:

 2 X Primary School Representatives
 1 X Academy Representative
 1 X Non Schools Representative for post 16 Education
 1 X Secondary Representative Substitute 

Members passed a vote of thanks to Toni Sambrook who had kindly 
agreed to hold the meeting at the school and had arranged for the 
refreshments.

Ruth Evans, Cantell School, agreed to host the next meeting of the 
Forum on 23rd September 2015.

2. NOTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING

The Minutes of the Meetings held on 29th April 2015 were approved as a 
correct record.

3. SECONDARY SCHOOL EXPANSION

The Forum considered the report of the School Organisation and Strategy 
Manager detailing the potential effects on the numbers of secondary 
school places within the City that the increase in roll numbers of children 
being educated in infant, junior and primary schools could have.

The report detailed the three approaches taken by the City to address any 
potential future difficulties.  It was noted that the City was working to: 
ensure that there was a complete take up of the places currently of offer; 
progress any potential adjustments to school buildings; and develop a 
long term provision strategy. 

It was agreed that it was preferential that children chose to attend the 



City’s schools.  The Forum discussed the requirement to promote the 
successes of the City’s schools and encourage parents to send their 
children to schools within the City boundary.  The Forum noted 
Hampshire schools ability to provide places for children from the City 
would most likely face future pressures as they too looked to rationalise 
their own capacities.

The Forum discussed: how the demands for capacity would affect the 
City’s PFI schools and any potential restriction to the expansion of these 
schools; and the possibility of a “Free School” in the City Centre was also 
discussed.   The Forum noted that short term financial implications were 
limited but, agreed that it would be very helpful to be kept informed of any 
developments that could potentially affect the demand for school places 
within the City. 

RESOLVED that the Forum agreed that the matter become a standing 
item on the Forum’s agenda.  

4. SCHOOL BALANCES 2014-2015

Report of the Chief Financial Officer detailing the Revenue and Capital 
balances held by schools at the end of 2014/15.

The Forum noted that whilst the overall figure indicated there was a 
substantial balance across all schools it was clear that Primary Schools 
had significantly higher balances.  

The report detailed that approved budgets for the schools had indicated 
that there would be a reduction to the 2013-2014 level of balances by 
£4.6m but that only the balance was actually only reduced by £1.228m.  
In addition the report detailed individual balances for each school.  

The Forum noted that there were 2 schools that now indicated a deficit 
that totalled £118,000.  It was explained that information relating to 
academy schools was not set out in the report.

The Forum discussed the necessity to gain as much information on 
individual schools balances, in order to assess whether there was a 
possibility of funding being redistribution. The Forum discussed the 
potential for bench marking levels that would trigger discussion as to 
whether a balance could be, or would be, distributed and noted that this 
level of information was very much dependent on schools detailing the 
intended purpose for any carried forward balance.





BRIEFING PAPER

SUBJECT: SCHOOLS FORUM TERMS OF REFERENCE 2015-16 AND 
DECLARATION OF INTEREST

DATE: 23 SEPTEMBER 2015
RECIPIENT: SCHOOLS FORUM

SUMMARY:
This paper identifies the changes to the Southampton Schools Forum Constitution 
(including Terms of Reference) for 2015-16.

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS:
1. The proposed changes are made in accordance with the Head of Children and 

Families delegated powers 4.3.31 which states that:  
“Following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member , the Head of 
Legal & Democratic Services and the Chief Financial Officer to amend the 
terms of reference and membership set for the Schools’ Forum and 
Admissions Forum so far as may be necessary to give effect to any new Act, 
Regulation or Code of Practice.”

2. The Draft Terms of Reference attached to the Report as Appendix 1 for approval. 
KEY CHANGES:

3. The 2014 -2015 Terms of Reference states under paragraph 18 that: 
“Members shall formally appoint one named substitute member from the 
same group as the member (or in the case of primary and secondary head 
teachers – two named substitute members)”

Over a period of years the Forum has adopted a variation to the numbers set out in 
the TOR and it is proposed that the Forum amend the Terms of Reference for 
2015-2016 to match custom and practice to the permitted numbers of substitute 
members.

4. This change that would formalise existing custom and practice which set allow the 
following: 

 4 Primary Sector Substitutes; and
 2 Secondary Sector Substitutes

5. Paragraph 18 of the Terms of Reference would then read as:
“Members shall formally appoint one named substitute member from the 
same group as the member (or in the case of primary head teachers – 4 and 
secondary head teachers 2) named substitute members)”

6. No further changes have been indicated to the proposed Terms of Reference, set 
out as Appendix 1 to the paper, other than the adjustment of dates and post holder 
titles in order to keep them relevant.



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
7. Members will note that the Forum’s Terms of Reference require that Members have 

regard to the Local Code of Conduct for Members, attached to the report as 
Appendix 2. Members are therefore required to sign a declaration in respect of the 
Code of Conduct. This is attached as Appendix 3.

8. Members of the Forum are, in addition, reminded of that Terms of Reference have 
annual requirement to register any declarations of interests in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011, The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012 and the Constitution of Southampton City Council.  This has been 
attached as Appendix 4. 

Supporting Information:
Appendix 1 – Draft Terms of Reference 

Appendix 2 – Members Code of Conduct

Appendix 3 - Members declaration of acceptance of the Code of Conduct

Appendix 4 – Members interest form

Further Information Available From: Name: Ed Grimshaw

Tel: 023 8083 2390

E-mail: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk

mailto:ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk


BRIEFING PAPER

SUBJECT: SCHOOLS FORUM TERMS OF REFERENCE 2015-16 AND 
DECLARATION OF INTEREST

DATE: 23 SEPTEMBER 2015
RECIPIENT: SCHOOLS FORUM

SUMMARY:
This paper identifies the changes to the Southampton Schools Forum Constitution 
(including Terms of Reference) for 2015-16.

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS:
1. The Department for Education’s (DfE) new Schools Forum regulations came into 

effect on 1st October 2012, along with an Operational and Good Practice Guide for 
Schools Forums.  The changes are detailed within this paper and have been added 
to the Terms of Reference.   

2. The proposed changes are made in accordance with the Head of Children and 
Families delegated powers 4.3.31 which states that:  

“Following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member , the Head of 
Legal & Democratic Services and the Chief Financial Officer to amend the 
terms of reference and membership set for the Schools’ Forum and 
Admissions Forum so far as may be necessary to give effect to any new Act, 
Regulation or Code of Practice.”

3. The Draft Terms of Reference attached to the Report as Appendix 1 for approval. 
KEY CHANGES:

3. The 2014 -2015 Terms of Reference states under paragraph 18 that: 
“Members shall formally appoint one named substitute member from the 
same group as the member (or in the case of primary and secondary head 
teachers – two named substitute members)”

Over a period of years the Forum has adopted a variation to the numbers set out in 
the TOR and it is proposed that the Forum amend the Terms of Reference for 
2015-2016 to match custom and practice to the permitted numbers of substitute 
members.

4. This change that would formalise existing custom and practice which set allow the 
following: 

 4 Primary Sector Substitutes; and
 2 Secondary Sector Substitutes

5. Paragraph 18 of the Terms of Reference would then read as:
“Members shall formally appoint one named substitute member from the 
same group as the member (or in the case of primary head teachers – 4 and 
secondary head teachers 2 named substitute members)”

6. No further changes have been indicated to the proposed Terms of Reference, set 
out as Appendix 1 to the paper, other than the adjustment of dates and post holder 
titles in order to keep them relevant.



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
6. Members will note that the Forum’s Terms of Reference require that Members have 

regard to the Local Code of Conduct for Members, attached to the report as 
Appendix 2. Members are therefore required to sign a declaration in respect of the 
Code of Conduct. This is attached as Appendix 3.

7. Members of the Forum are, in addition, reminded of that Terms of Reference have 
annual requirement to register any declarations of interests in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011, The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012 and the Constitution of Southampton City Council.  This has been 
attached as Appendix 4. 

Supporting Information:
Appendix 1 – Draft Terms of Reference 

Appendix 2 – Members Code of Conduct

Appendix 3 - Members declaration of acceptance of the Code of Conduct

Appendix 4 – Members interest form

Further Information Available From: Name: Ed Grimshaw

Tel: 023 8083 2390

E-mail: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk

mailto:ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk


 

 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 1 May 2015 

THE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 
 
 

PART 1 – Introduction and Interpretation 
 
This Code applies to you as a member of this authority when you act in your role as a 
member and it is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 
 
As a member you are a representative of this authority and the public will view you as such, 
therefore, your actions impact on how the authority as a whole is viewed and your actions 
can have both positive and negative impacts on the authority. 
 
This Code is based upon the “Nolan Principles – the seven principles of public life” which are 
set out in Appendix 1. 
 
This Code does not cover matters in respect of which the Secretary of State under the 
Localism Act 2011 specifically provides that criminal sanction shall apply. 
 
In this Code- 
 

“meeting” means any meeting of: 

(a) the authority 

(b) the Executive of the authority 

(c) any of the authority’s or its executives committees, sub-committees, joint committees, 
joint sub-committees, or area committees; 

whether or not the press and public are excluded from the meeting in question by virtue of a 
resolution of members 

 
“member” includes a co-opted member (voting and non-voting) and an appointed member. 
 
 

PART 2 – Scope and General Obligations 
 
1. Scope 
 

(1) This Code applies to all members of Southampton City Council, including co-opted 
voting members, 

(2)  It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

(3) You must comply with this Code whenever you –  

a. conduct the business of your authority, or 

b. act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a representative of 
your authority or in your official capacity as a member of the authority. 

(4) Where you act as a representative of your authority- 

a. on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, 
comply with that other authority’s Code of conduct: or 

b. on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with 
your authority’s Code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any 
other lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject. 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 2 May 2015 

 
2. General Obligations 
 

(1) When acting in your role as a member of the authority – 

a. do treat others with respect; 

b. do not conduct yourself in a manner which is contrary to the Council’s duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct of members; 

c. do ensure that you are aware of and comply with the requirements which the 
Bribery Act 2010 places on you in your role as a Member and on the Council 
as a whole; 

d. do not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be 
aware, is of a confidential nature, except where— 

i. you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

ii. you are required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 
professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to 
disclose the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is- 

(aa)  reasonable and in the public interest; and 

(bb)  made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 
requirements of the authority; and 

(cc)  you have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

e. do not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which 
that person is entitled by law; 

 

(2) When using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the authority- 

a. do act in accordance with the authority’s reasonable requirements including 
the requirements of the authority’s ITC policy and the policies listed at 
Appendix 2, copies of which have been provided to you and which you are 
deemed to have read; 

b. do make sure that such resources are not used improperly for political 
purposes (including party political purposes): and 

c. do have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 
under the Local Government Act 1986.  

 
 

PART 3 – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (Localism Act 2011) 
 
3. Notification of disclosable pecuniary interests 
 
(1)  Within 28 days of becoming a member or co-opted member, you must notify the 

Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’. 
 
(2)  A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which 

means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, 
or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) within the 
description at Appendix 2. 

 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 3 May 2015 

4. Register of Interests 
 
Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of interests. 
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
authority’s website. 
 
5. Sensitive interests 
 
Where you consider that disclosure of the details of a disclosable pecuniary interest could 
lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and 
the Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register 
that are made available for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude 
details of the interest, but may state that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, the 
details of which are withheld under Section 32(2) of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
6. Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 

(1)  If you are present at a meeting of the authority, or any committee, sub-committee, 
joint committee or joint sub-committee of the authority, and you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting- 

a. you may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 

b. you may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

c. if the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

d. if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 

 
(2)  In addition, Council Procedure Rules and Executive Procedure Rules require you to 

leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place. 
 

(3) Where an executive member may discharge a function alone and becomes aware of 
a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter being dealt with or to be dealt with by 
her/him, the executive member- 

a. must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest; and  
b.  must not take any steps or further steps in the matter. 
 

(4) Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of your authority, 
you may attend that meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the 
public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a 
statutory right or otherwise and you leave the room where the meeting is held 
immediately after making representations, answering questions or giving evidence. 

 

7. Dispensations 
 
The authority may grant you a dispensation, but only in limited circumstances, to enable you 
to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 
8. Offences 
 

(1)  It is a criminal offence to- 

a. fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 
28 days of election; 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 4 May 2015 

b. fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the 
register; 

c. fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting; 

d. Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest; 

e. As an executive member discharging a function acting alone, and having a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in such a matter, failing to notify the Monitoring 
Officer within 28 days of the interest; 

f. Knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading in 
notifying the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting; 

 
(2)  The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 

on the standard scale and disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years. 
 
 

PART 4 – Other Interests (Personal and Pecuniary) 
 
9. Notification of other interests 
 

(1)  In addition to the disclosable pecuniary interests notifiable under the Localism Act 
2011, you must, within 28 days of— 

a. this Code being adopted by or applied to your authority; or 
b. your election or appointment to office (where that is later), 

notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the details of your other personal interests, 
where they fall within the following descriptions, for inclusion in the register of 
interests. 

 

(2)  You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either— 

a.  it relates to or is likely to affect— 

i.  any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control 
or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by your 
authority; 

ii.  any body— 

aa.  exercising functions of a public nature; 

bb.  directed to charitable purposes; or 

cc.  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of 
public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade 
union), of which you are a member or in a position of general 
control or management; 

 
(3)  You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest or change to any 

interest registered under paragraph (1), or as a disclosable pecuniary interest notify 
the Monitoring Officer of the details of that new interest or change. 

 
10. Disclosure of other interests 
 

(1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) below, where you have a personal interest 
described in paragraph 9 above or in paragraph (2) below in any business of your 
authority, and where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence 
of the personal interest, and you attend a meeting of your authority at which the 
business is considered, you must- 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 5 May 2015 

a. disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the 
commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes 
apparent. 

 
(2) (A)  You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where a 

decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as 
affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or financial 
position of a relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of other 
council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, 
as the case may be, affected by the decision; 

 

(B) In sub-paragraph (2)(A), a relevant person is— 

a. a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close 
association; or 

b. any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any 
firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are 
directors; 

c. any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in 
a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 

d. any body of a type described in paragraph 9(2)(a)(i) or (ii). 

 
(3)  Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority which relates to 

or is likely to affect a person described in paragraph 9(2)(a)(i) or 9(2)(a)(ii)(aa), you 
need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest when you 
address the meeting on that business. 

 
(4)  Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 12, sensitive 

information relating to it is not registered in your authority’s register of members’ 
interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest, but 
need not disclose the sensitive information to the meeting. 

 
(5)  Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have 

made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must ensure that any 
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest. 

 
11. Register of interests 

 
A Member shall enter in the authority’s register of interests the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality, where the Member estimates the value to be at least £50, within 28 days of 
receipt. 
 
Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of interests.  A 
copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
authority’s website. 
 
12. Sensitive interests 
 
Where you consider that disclosure of the details an interest could lead to you, or a person 
connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the Monitoring Officer 
agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that are made 
available for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details of the 
interest, but may state that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld. 
 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 6 May 2015 

13. Non participation in case of pecuniary interest 
 

(1)  Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority you also have a 
pecuniary interest in that business where the interest is one which a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant 
that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where that 
business— 

a.  affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body 
described in paragraph 10 ;or 

b. relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration in relation to you or any person or body described in paragraph 
10. 

 

(2)  Subject to paragraph (4) and (5) below, where you have a pecuniary interest in any 
business of your authority— 

a. You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 

b.  You may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

c.  If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

d.  If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 

 
(3)  In addition Council Procedure Rules and Executive Procedure Rules require you to 

leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place. 
 
(4)  Where you have a pecuniary interest in any business of your authority, you may 

attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are 
also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory 
right or otherwise and you leave the room where the meeting is held immediately 
after making representations, answering questions or giving evidence. 

 

(5)  Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a meeting and 
vote on a matter where you have a pecuniary interest that relates to the functions of 
your authority in respect of— 

a.  housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those 
functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

b. school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of 
a school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends; 

c. statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and 
Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, 
such pay; 

d. an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 

e. any ceremonial honour given to members; and 

f. setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

 
(6) Where, as an executive member, you may discharge a function alone, and you 

become aware of a pecuniary interest in a matter being dealt with, or to be dealt with 
by you, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any 
steps or further steps in the matter, or seek improperly to influence a decision about 
the matter. 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 7 May 2015 

 
14. Interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committees 
 

(1)  In any business before an overview and scrutiny committee of your authority (or of a 
sub-committee of such a committee) where— 

a. that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or 
action taken by the executive or another of your authority’s committees, sub-
committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees; and 

b. at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member 
of the executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-
committee mentioned in paragraph (a) and you were present when that 
decision was made or action was taken,  

You may only attend a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee for the 
purpose of answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, and you 
must leave the room where the meeting is held immediately after making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence. 

 
15. Pre-determination or bias 
  
(1) Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue 

which does not impact on your personal and/or professional life you should not be 
prohibited from participating in a decision in your political role as member, however 
do not place yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your official 
duties. 

 
(2) When making a decision, do consider the matter with an open mind and on the facts 

before the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 
 
 
16. Compliance with Constitution, Rules, Standards and Guidance 
 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution or any Rule, Protocol, 
Corporate Standards or Guidance issued pursuant to the Constitution shall be deemed to be 
a breach of this Code. Rules, Protocols, Corporate Standards and Guidance shall include 
(but is not limited to) the documents listed in Appendix 3. 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 8 May 2015 

APPENDIX 1: 
 

NOLAN PRINCIPLES - THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 
 
 
 
Selflessness Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They 
should not do so in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or 
their friends.  
 
Integrity Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other 
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the 
performance of their official duties.  
 
Objectivity In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding 
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office 
should make choices on merit.  
 
Accountability Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the 
public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  
 
Openness Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions 
and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict 
information only when the wider public interest clearly demands it.  
 
Honesty Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their 
public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the 
public interest.  
 
Leadership Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by 
leadership and example. 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 9 May 2015 

APPENDIX 2: 
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 
 
 

 

INTEREST DESCRIPTION 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or 
provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a 
member, or towards the election expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

a. under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 

b. which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area 
of the relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land 
in the area of the relevant authority for a month or 
longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 

a. the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

b. the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

a. that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and 

b. either— 

i. the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body; or  

ii. if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares 
of any one class in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class. 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 10 May 2015 

These descriptions on interests are subject to the following definitions: 
 
“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 
 
“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or 
in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 
 
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society; 
 
“land” includes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 
receive income; 
 
“M” means the person M referred to in section 30 of the Act; 
 
“member” includes a co-opted member;  
 
“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 
 
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a 
notification for the purposes of section 30(1) of the Act; 
 
“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act; 
 
“securities” means  shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000() and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 
 
 



 
12 Part 5 - Members' Code of Conduct 11 May 2015 

APPENDIX 3: 
 

RULES, PROTOCOLS, STANDARDS AND GUIDANCE 
 

 The Southampton City Council Constitution (all parts) 

 Corporate Standards for: 

 Decision Making 

 Legality 

 Finance 

 HR 

 IT 

 Procurement 

 Property 

 Obligations of Members on Outside Bodies 

 Probity in Planning 

 Licensing Handbook 

 Guidance on Use of Resources 

 Health & Safety Roles and Responsibilities for Elected Members 

 Officer Member Protocol 

 Anti Fraud and Anti Corruption Policy and Strategy 

 Duty to Act Policy 

 Code of Corporate Governance 

 Equality Scheme 

 Dignity at Work Policy 

 Data Protection Policy 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

 Partnership Code 

 Guidance on the Use of Electronic Devices 

 Code on Local Authority Publicity 





Declaration of Acceptance of Code of Conduct

Southampton Schools Forum

I , ………………………………………………………………………………
(full name of member)

having been appointed as a Member of the Southampton Schools Forum 

UNDERTAKE to observe the Code as to the Conduct which is expected of 

Members of Southampton City Council.

Date:  ………………………………

Signature  ………………………………………….

(Member)

This declaration was made and subscribed before 

Signature ……………………………………………

(Democratic Support Officer)

 





SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL

REGISTER OF MEMBERS INTERESTS – PLEASE COMPLETE AND RETURN TO 
MEMBER SERVICES WITHIN 14 DAYS

Register of disclosures made in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and 

the Constitution of Southampton City Council

I………… ………………………………………….[full name], as a Member or co-opted 
member of Southampton City Council, give notice that I have set out my interests in 
Appendix 1 and 2 below, and have put ‘NONE’ where I have no such interest in any 
area.

SIGNATURE: ………………………………………

DATE: ……………………………………………….

Appendix 1 of this form contains Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as prescribed by the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. It is a 
criminal offence, without reasonable excuse, to:-

(i) fail to register a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that you are aware of within 28 
days of your election or re-election;

(ii) take part in any debate or vote at any meeting where you have a registered or 
unregistered Disclosable Pecuniary Interest:

(iii) to fail to declare at a meeting and / or take part in a debate or vote if you are 
aware that you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is not yet 
registered or notified to the Monitoring Officer:

(iv) fail to register a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest within 28 days of declaring an 
unregistered Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting:

(v) provide false or misleading information in relation to your registration or to be 
reckless as to its accuracy:

(vi) take any steps or further action on a matter in which you have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest other than referring it elsewhere.

Upon conviction a Member or Co-optee may be fined up to a maximum of £5,000 per 
offence.

Appendix 2 of this form contains ‘Other Interests’ required to be disclosed in 
accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members as set out in the Constitution of 
Southampton City Council. It is a breach of the Code of Conduct to fail to disclose 
any interest that you know or ought to know that you have as soon as such an 
interest arises.

Forms should be completed and returned to: The Monitoring Officer, C/O Democratic 
Services, Civic Centre, Southampton, SO14 7LY

Please retain one copy of this form for your own records.



APPENDIX 1

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

Please complete ALL parts of this form. If you do not have an interest under a particular section, please put ‘None’. All of your interests must be 
disclosed, including those of your Spouse or Partner (as defined below).

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST YOU YOUR SPOUSE OR PARTNER
(Your spouse, partner, a person you are living 

with as husband or wife, or a person with 
whom you are living as if they were a civil 

partner)

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship:
Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from 
Southampton City Council) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any 
expense incurred by you in carrying out duties 
as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.



Any contract which is made between you / 
your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / 
your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and 
Southampton City Council under which goods 
or services are to be provided or works are to 
be executed, and which has not been fully 
discharged.

Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of Southampton.

Any license (held alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of Southampton for 
a month or longer.

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the 
landlord is Southampton City Council and the 
tenant is a body in which you / your spouse 
etc has a beneficial interest.

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where that body (to your knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of 
Southampton, and either:

a) the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one 



hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body, or

b) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which you / your spouse etc has a 
beneficial interest that exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

‘Beneficial Interest’ in relation to land means land or property that you own, or have a right to occupy (e.g. a tenancy) or receive an income 
from. This may include your home.

‘Securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 
Finance Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society.



APPENDIX 2

OTHER INTERESTS

Please complete ALL parts of this form. If you do not have an interest under a particular section, please put ‘None’. All of your interests must be 
disclosed, including those of your Spouse or Partner (as defined below).

Please provide details of your membership of, or your occupation of a position of general control or management in:

Any body to which you have been appointed or nominated by 
Southampton City Council

Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature

(E.G. Primary Care Trust, Police Authority, Other Councils)

Any body directed to charitable purposes

(E.G Any charitable trusts such as a Freemason Lodge, Trust or 
Academy School, Other charitable organisation).

Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public 
opinion or policy

(includes any political party or trade union, single interest action 
groups, National Trust, Friends of the Earth etc.)





 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Southampton Secondary School Expansion and Improvement Planning 2015-2025 



 

  
 

 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

1 
 

 
  

SUBJECT: BUILDING FOR EXCELLENCE 

Secondary School Expansion and Improvement 2015-2025 
  

 

THIS IS NOT A DECISION PAPER 

SUMMARY: 

 

 Southampton has seen a considerable increase in the need for school places and 
the peak year for entry to Year R (primary) will be 2015/16. However, the number of 
pupils entering Year R has been growing since 2009 the growth in the school 
population is beginning to impact on secondary school pupil numbers. 

While we currently have a significant surplus of secondary school places in the City 
(forecast at 14 per cent in Year 7 for 2015), this will fall sharply to 2018/19 where, 
without intervention and at current Published Admission Numbers (PANs), there is 
forecast to be a deficit of Year 7 places in the City (-2.6 per cent). 

When the 2015/16 Year R classes progress through to the secondary sector, a 
forecast Year 7 peak will occur in the 2022/23 academic year with a deficit of 605 
Year 7 places in the City (-26 per cent). 

Some schools’ current PANs are below their original intended capacity. The first 
phase of any expansion plans will be to raise PANs, where possible, to ensure all 
available places are filled. At some schools this will require minor works to ensure 
that educational outcomes are not affected. 

The Schools Capital Projects Team has begun the process of investigation and 
consultation into Secondary School Expansion and Improvement. The process has 
begun with a series of secondary school site visits and discussions with individual 
Head Teachers about the issues facing each school in the City and about the 
expansion of places across the City. 

This discussion paper feeds back the findings of those site visits and puts forward a 
proposed plan for further consultation and comment. A separate paper on SEND 
provision across the City has links with Building for Excellence, in terms of the need 
for Resourced Provision, and this issue is discussed in that separate paper. 

Alongside the need for extra places there is a need to ensure that the secondary 
estate across Southampton is fit for purpose and allows all schools to offer the 
safest learning environments for our children and young people. Any proposed plan 
must therefore ensure that all Southampton secondary schools can be schools of 
parental preference and reduce the disparity of surplus places across the City. 

The proposed Building for Excellence plans are based on the City Council’s stated 
intention that our educational purpose is to secure the highest quality of learning for 
all. The plan outlines the need to make every secondary school in Southampton a 
school of parental preference. The majority of secondary schools in the City are 
rated Good to Outstanding by Ofsted. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

2 
 

BACKGROUND and DETAILS: 

1.1 There are currently 12 secondary schools in the City.  

1.2. Four have academy1 status (Oasis: Lord’s Hill; Oasis: Mayfield; St Anne’s Catholic 
School and Upper Shirley High School). The remainder are LA maintained schools 
(including Regents Park Community College and Chamberlayne College for the 
Arts (Trust Schools2) and St George Catholic College (Voluntary Aided by the 
Portsmouth Catholic Diocese). 

1.3. In the 2015/16 admissions round there were 2, 290 places available in 
Southampton for Year 7 Pupils against a total of 1,970 pupils requesting a place. 
This 14 per cent surplus is not evenly spread throughout the City as, despite the 
majority of Southampton’s secondary schools being rated Good or Outstanding by 
Ofsted, parental preference continues to rely on aspects outside the Ofsted criteria. 

1.4. Several schools in the City are over-subscribed (i.e. they receive more first choice 
preferences during the admissions process than they have places) while a third of 
the City’s secondary schools attract first choice preferences significantly below their 
Planned Admission Number (PAN). 

1.5. As a result, the current 14 per cent (2015/16) surplus of Year 7 places in the 
secondary sector (a 25 per cent surplus of places in all Years) is primarily focused 
on four schools: Chamberlayne; Woodlands; Cantell; and Oasis Lord’s Hill. Lower 
pupil numbers means lower revenue funding for these schools which provides a 
variety of challenges around curriculum choices, school management and building 
maintenance. 

1.6. In planning future secondary school places particular regard should be given to the 
undersubscribed PFI schools. They currently have a considerable number of 
surplus places (an issue which is being addressed by SCC and the Department for 
Education (DfE)) and this puts the schools under financial pressure when there is a 
need to provide a broad and balanced curriculum to pupils. The nature of the PFI 
contract also places considerable liability on the Council should these schools 
continue at reduced numbers. 

1.7. Similarly, Chamberlayne College for the Arts is currently undersubscribed and faces 
the same challenges in continuing to provide a broad and balanced curriculum to 
Southampton pupils. In addition, the maintenance of buildings becomes an issue 
when schools are underfunded. 

1.8. All three schools face considerable challenges around location, catchment area 
and, in the case of Chamberlayne, poor quality accommodation. 

                                            
1 Academies are publicly funded independent schools. They receive their money direct from the government. 

However, the responsibility for providing school places continues to lie with the LA. 
2 Trust schools hold the legal title to their land and assets ‘on trust’ but continue to be LA maintained schools in 

terms of place planning and capital spending. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

3 
 

1.9. This disparity must be addressed and the City Council must ensure these schools 
are filled (at least in Year 7) before further expansion can take place. The Local 
Authority must do it all it can to support these schools to become schools of 
parental preference. This is imperative in order to raise pupil numbers and maintain 
or continue to raise the quality of education provided by these schools. 

1.10. This is also vital in terms of admissions. As the secondary school population 
increases, a growing number of children will need to be placed at these schools. If 
they are not the preferred choice of parents and children, then the LA runs the risk 
of these schools being incorrectly viewed as the ‘last’ choice, when in fact their 
educational outcomes have been good. This is likely to cause a large number of 
admissions appeals unless the issue is addressed. 

1.11. Furthermore, the Education Funding Agency (EFA) is unlikely to offer SCC Basic 
Need funding for secondary places while we have such a surplus of places in the 
City. 

1.12. In order to ensure these Good schools are ones of parental preference the Council 
will need to do all it can to support them in terms of pupil transport (direct from 
feeder schools), positive marketing (along with all LA maintained schools) and 
publicizing positive news and outcomes in-house. 

1.13. As with other schools close to the City’s borders, parents have a choice of schools 
which includes those outside of the LA (i.e. in Hampshire: Romsey, Mountbatten, and 

Hamble). Where these schools have, in the parents’ view, higher standing or better 
quality provision and accommodation, all SCC schools need to be in a position 
where they can compete. 

1.14 Therefore this discussion paper is not merely about the provision of secondary 
places but also about raising the quality of secondary school buildings in 
Southampton to ensure that parental preference is kept within, and more evenly 
spread across, the City. 

1.15. The future need for secondary school places in Southampton gives the City 
Council an opportunity to improve the condition of, and facilities at, all 
secondary schools to ensure the best outcomes for the children of the City, 
and to ensure that all schools offer the very highest quality of 
accommodation and the safest learning environments for all pupils on an 
equal basis: securing the highest quality of learning for all. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

4 
 

1.16. The full list of Southampton secondary schools is: 
 

School Status Ofsted Rated 

Bitterne Park Secondary School * LA maintained Good 

Cantell School LA maintained Good 

Chamberlayne School LA maintained Good 

Oasis Academy: Lord’s Hill Academy Requires Improvement 

Oasis Academy: Mayfield Academy Requires Improvement 

Redbridge Community School * LA maintained Outstanding 

Regents Park School LA maintained Good 

Sholing Technology College LA Maintained Good 

St Anne’s RC School Academy Good 

St George RC School LA maintained Good 

Upper Shirley High School Academy Good 

Woodlands Community College LA maintained Requires Improvement 

 
 

1.17. 

 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

5 
 

1.18. *In addition to mainstream provision, two schools have additional accommodation 
for the resourced provision of SEND pupils. Bitterne Park School has provision for 
pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) (5 places) and Redbridge Community 
School has provision in their Hearing Impaired (HI) Unit (7 places).  

1.19. Resourced provision of this kind must be protected and, where necessary, 
expanded in order to provide sufficient places for all children and young people who 
require one. The issue of SEND places is more fully explored in the separate SEND 
Places Discussion Paper Update (July 2015). 

1.20. For comparison the Key Stage 4 (GCSE) 2014 DfE performance tables for 
Southampton secondary schools are listed below. 

 

*Pupils making at least the minimum expected levels of progress between KS2-KS4 

School 
Pupils 

5+A*-C 
(English 

and Maths) 

Expected 
Progress 

English* 

Expected 
Progress 

Maths* 

England   53.4% 74% 67% 

All Southampton Schools  51% 75% 64% 

Bitterne Park Secondary School 1,495 65% 83% 72% 

Cantell School 839 51% 95% 69% 

Chamberlayne School 478 61% 68% 65% 

Oasis Academy: Lord’s Hill 511 45% 70% 71% 

Oasis Academy: Mayfield 650 38% 66% 61% 

Redbridge Community School 1,012 37% 68% 52% 

Regents Park School 693 64% 85% 77% 

Sholing Technology College 1,034 50% 70% 45% 

St Anne’s RC School 972 72% 87% 70% 

St George RC School 548 45% 48% 81% 

Upper Shirley High School 741 49% 77% 60% 

Woodlands Community College 586 37% 67% 22% 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

6 
 

1.21. The combined Planned Admission Number (PAN) of Year 7 places for all 
secondary schools in the City in 2015/16 is 2,290. The table below shows the 
forecast number of students who will require a Year 7 place over the coming years 
and the shortage of spaces if we fail to programme an expansion and improvement 
of secondary provision.  

 

Academic 
Year 

Number of Year 7 
Pupils 

Surplus/Deficit Year 
7 Places 

Surplus/Deficit 

2015/16 1,970 320 +14% 

2016/17 2,158 132 +5.8% 

2017/18 2,292 58 +2.5% 

2018/19 2,411 -61 -2.6% 

2019/20 2,661 -311 -13.2% 

2020/21 2,598 -248 -10.6% 

2021/22 2,767 -417 -17.7% 

2022/23 2,955 -605 -25.7% 

2023/24 2,683 -333 -14.2% 

2024/25 2,581 -231 -9.8% 

2025/26 2,601 -251 -10.7% 

 
2026/27 

2,708 -358 -15.2% 

 
Bitterne Park Secondary School will expand from a PAN of 300 to 360 in 
September 2017 and this will increase the City PAN to 2,350. This is represented in 
the table. 

1.22. When broken down by area (as per the School Capacity Survey Forecasts 2014) it 
is easier to see how this pressure on school places is not evenly spread throughout 
the City. 

Year 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

West 51 4 -29 -58 -121 -105 -147 -197 -126 -101 

Central 116 60 51 -15 -89 -70 -120 -176 -95 -65 

East 153 67 66 12 -102 -73 -150 -236 -112 -65 

 
 

1.23. An increasing number of large scale developments are planned on the borders of 
the City and we have seen a similar increase in mid-scale developments and 
changes within the City itself. While the LA currently sees a 5 per cent net loss of 
pupils to Hampshire schools (between Year 6 and 7 – a 7.4 per cent net loss 
overall), as Hampshire’s population grows this is forecast to decrease.  

1.24. It has been noted that as Further Education (i.e. sixth form) provision within the City 
continues to improve, this could cause a change in parental preference toward 
Southampton schools. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

7 
 

1.25. The close proximity of developments on the City’s borders could mean increasing 
pressure on school places in Southampton as parents choose to attend SCC Good 
schools which are closer than the Hampshire alternatives. Given the nature and 
location of Southampton schools this pressure could affect all schools in the City. 

1.26. Similarly, an increasing number of mid to large scale residential developments are 
planned within Southampton. Close attention will need to be given to the movement 
of the population that this, and other local issues, could cause. 

1.27. The size of a school is often discussed with reference to its forms of Entry, where 
one form of entry equates to 30 pupils. In terms of forms of entry (FE) this forecast 
suggests the LA will need to provide an additional 24 FE (equal to 720 Year 7 
places) by September 2022 to meet demand. 

1.28. It should be noted that, unlike the primary school (Year R) forecast, which is based 
predominantly on Birth Data and Child Benefit data, the secondary school pupil 
forecast is principally based on numbers of pupils already in the Southampton 
primary schools. Nevertheless, secondary pupil forecasts beyond 2022/23 will be 
less reliable as these children are not yet in School.  

1.29. There has been an historic net loss of pupils between Year 6 and Year 7 (a net loss 
of around 7.4 per cent overall) to Hampshire schools. Recent developments on the 
City’s borders as well as a rise in Hampshire’s own school population means there 
is likely to be a further increase of pupils requiring a place in Southampton’s 
secondary schools. The forecasts used here take account the current trend and 
numbers could rise as we see more development on Southampton’s border with 
Hampshire. 

1.30. In addition, the DfE has assumed in its planning that a minimum 5 per cent surplus 
of places is necessary to support operational flexibility and parental choice. This is 
reflected in the Audit Commissions 1996 Trading Places: The Supply and Allocation 
of School Places which recommends that LAs plan for a 95 per cent occupancy rate 
at schools. The 2002 update on Trading Places also recommends that ‘it is 
unrealistic and probably undesirable to aim for a perfect match of pupils and places 
at each school. Some margin of capacity is necessary to allow parents’ choice.’ 

1.31. Southampton is forecast to fall below the recommended 5 per cent surplus in 
2017/18 without further intervention. 

1.32. In the absence of a City-wide plan for new places, individual academies and free 
schools can plan for expansion (in consultation with the Local Authority) in line with 
the legislation outlined below: 7.8.- 7.10. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

8 
 

1.33. A proposal has been put together by the Jeffery’s Education Trust (JET: part of the 
Hamwic Trust) to expand Upper Shirley High School (academy) from a PAN of 150 
to a possible PAN of 260 places. This is in response to the expansion of 
Wordsworth Primary School (JET Academy Trust) and the trusts perception that 
parental preference is for children to attend Upper Shirley High School and remain 
within the Hamwic Trust family. If approved by the DfE the expansion could take 
affect from September 2017. However the Hamwic Trust are yet to secure funding. 

1.34. This could add 110 places to the City’s Year 7 capacity in the west planning area of 
the City. 

1.35. The effect of this expansion (if approved) would be to relieve pressure on 
secondary school places in the short term. Allowing for this expansions, SCC would 
have a surplus of places (178 places/7.2 per cent) in 2017/18 and would fall below 
the recommended 5 per cent surplus in 2018/19 (59 places/2.4 per cent surplus). This 
expansions could only offset any deficit of places until 2019/20 (-191 places/7.7 per 

cent deficit).  

Year 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

West 51 4 91 62 -1 15 -27 -74 -6 19 

Central 116 60 21 -15 -89 -70 -120 -176 -95 -65 

East 153 67 66 12 -102 -73 -150 -236 -112 -65 

Total % 14 5.8 7.2 2.4 -7.7 -5.2 -12.0 -19.6 -8.6 -1.8 
 

1.36. An application was made by the Inspire Enterprise Academy proposing a change 
from studio school status (work related learning aimed at 14-19 year olds with 
admissions in Year 10) to a mainstream academy (provision for 11-16 year olds 
with admissions at Year 7). The application has been refused and the studio school 
will close from September 2015. 

1.37. Students currently on-roll at the school have been offered alternative provision 
within the City or at the Isle of Wight Studio School, with free transport provided. 

1.38. It should be noted that this discussion paper, while taking account of such 
plans, does not include them in the proposed options (below) as they are 
currently not approved by the DfE. Should either plan be approved, the need 
for places across the City will change and the programme will need to be 
altered. The DfE decision on these plans will therefore need to be known 
before progressing to a decision. 

1.39. Consideration will need to be given to the effect of these expansions on the overall 
surplus of spaces in the City given the nature of the current surplus (as discussed 
above). 

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

9 
 

1.40. Provisional forecasting based on birth data suggests that following the 2022/23 
peak of demand there will be a slight drop in the number of places needed at Year 
7 followed by a possible future rise. However, as the peak year works its way 
through the system there will continue to be pressure on the overall number of 
school places required in the secondary sector. 

1.41. 

 
Forecast future demand on Secondary places SCC Total 

1.42. As such, it may be that we increase the Year 7 Pan at some schools for one year 
only, before reducing it the following year. This approach of ‘bulge’ classes is the 
approach currently being taken in the primary sector and allows for flexibility in 
responding to forecasts that, nearer to the time, will improve in accuracy.  

1.43. Bulge classes could be considered at any or all of the City’s secondary schools. It is 
proposed that this be managed in association with schools and a clear plan put in 
place to allow the provision of any required spaces. 

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

10 
 

1.44. Each school has a Net Capacity Assessment (NCA) which calculates the maximum 
number of students that a school can accommodate. This figure is calculate using 
the number of available teaching spaces against the area guidelines of Building 
Bulletin 103: Area Guidelines for Mainstream Schools (June 2014). 

1.45. Some Southampton secondary schools have an indicated NCA which is larger than 
their current PAN. As such, some schools have the capacity to accommodate extra 
pupils within their existing buildings. These schools are: 

School Area 
Current 

PAN 
Maximum 

NCA 
Potential 

PAN 

Regents Park Community College Central 150 1,052 210 

Cantell Maths and Computing College (PFI) Central 230 1,545 300 

St Anne’s Catholic College Central 200 1,079 210 

Chamberlayne College for the Arts East 180 1,059 210 

Woodlands Community College (PFI) East 180 1,290 240 
 

1.46. It should be noted that changes in provision at Regents Park Community College 
will affect its ability to expand without new facilities (particularly toilets and sports 
facilities) and appropriate space for the additional pupils. 

1.47. However, where expansion is possible, and if it were approved, the added 170 
places would give the City an adequate number of secondary places up to, and 
including, the 2018/19 academic year (providing a 3.9 per cent surplus of places in 
that year). Further expansion would still be required by September 2019 as these 
expansions would leave a 6 per cent deficit of places in 2019/20.3 

1.48. It is anticipated that any expansion within a school’s Net Capacity Assessment 
would require relatively minor works to be carried out at some schools. Such 
expansions would be seen as ‘Quick Wins’: where minimal works could add places 
while improving current provision within the City. Such works could include 
improving toilet facilities, refurbishment or addition of science rooms, improved 
sports facilities, etc. In each case (below) the requirements of Building Bulletin 103 
(DfE) Area Guidelines for Mainstream Schools have been taken into account. 

1.49. It should be noted that the expansion of secondary school provision is more 
complicated than previously seen at primary. Secondary school expansion needs to 
consider the wider curriculum offered to pupils at this point of their education and a 
wide range of teaching facilities need to be provided to avoid timetable problems for 
individual schools. 

                                            
3 Again, possible expansions at the Inspire Enterprise Academy and Upper Shirley High School have not 
currently been approved and are not taken into account in these figures. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

11 
 

1.50. Such expansion also brings a challenge for recruitment and retention of appropriate 
staff, including teaching staff who can continue to improve the outcomes for the 
children and young people of Southampton. The City Council should work together 
with schools, colleges, universities and other teacher training providers to ensure 
that the best staff and teachers are attracted to Southampton schools. 

1.51. Officers have visited all maintained and academy secondary schools in 
Southampton, along with an architect from Capita (our strategic partners), to 
continue the process of school consultation. 

1.52. It is our intention to work in collaboration with schools, Head Teachers and 
Governors to develop a long term plan for expansion of secondary provision in-line 
with the forecast rise in pupil numbers. 

1.53. The site visits have also allowed officers to review each school’s Net Capacity 
Assessment (NCA) and talk to Head Teachers and other staff about the needs of 
each school and the future needs of Southampton’s children. The findings are 
presented below. 

1.54. Schools below are listed by planning area (west, central and east). Such planning 
areas allow us to more accurately judge the need for school places in different parts 
of the City. It should be noted that in terms of the School Capacity Survey and 
Basic Need Grant the City is regarded as a whole planning area in terms of school 
places and Basic Need Funding. 

 

 
  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

12 
 

 

2. West 

2.1. Redbridge Community School (PFI) LA Maintaned 

2.2. Redbridge School is currently rated Outstanding by Ofsted and is oversubscribed, 
being in an area of dense housing in a popular part of the City. The school has 
expressed an interest in expansion and parental preference suggests it could 
expand.  

2.3. However the school is at or near its net capacity and currently needs space to 
maintain its curriculum. The school has undertaken some preliminary investigation 
with the PFI contractor (Interserve/Pyramid) to provide extra classrooms on-site for 
2016/17 using portable buildings on an area of unused land. 

2.4. Alternative plans have been developed (but not progressed) by the school to 
provide extra classrooms and/or dining space and library in an area of the main 
quad adjacent to the sports-hall (which could free the current library to become 
performance or classroom space) and a separate classroom in the space formed by 
the overhang on the opposite side of the quad. Consideration could also be given to 
extending the new-build (E-Block) of the school to provide extra classroom space 
(were permanent expansion required). 

2.5. With the addition of these spaces, the school could provide a 1 or 2 FE Bulge Class 
in September 2022 if required. 

2.6. Upper Shirley High School Academy 

2.7. Upper Shirley High School is currently rated Good by Ofsted and is generally 
oversubscribed. As part of the Jeffrey’s Education Trust (Hamwic Trust) family they 
are keen to expand to allow pupils at feeder primaries to continue within the trust. 

2.8. The Hamwic Trust have submitted plans to the EFA to expand the school from a 
PAN of 150 to a PAN of 260 from September 2017. The Trust is currently trying to 
secure funding from the EFA for this expansion. 

2.9. It is likely that expansion at Upper Shirley High School (particularly at this size) 
would require major building work. 

2.10. Expansion in this part of the City would be required by 2019, when there is forecast 
to be a shortage of Year 7 places. If Upper Shirley High School does not expand 
then further expansion work will be required in this part of the City. This could be at 
Upper Shirley high School, or through permanent expansion at Redbridge 
Community School, Oasis, Lord’s Hill, or Regents Park Community College. 

2.11. To maintain a city wide balance of secondary school places, the school would 
expand to a Pan of 240 in 2019 at the earliest, with a bulge class possible in 
2022/23. 

 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

13 
 

2.12. Oasis Academy: Lord’s Hill Academy 

2.13. Oasis Academy: Lord’s Hill was rated as Requires Improvement (with some Good 
areas) in November 2013. The school was built to a capacity of 900 pupils but has 
yet to reach that capacity. The site has limited space for expansion but there is 
some scope to extend the main building.  

2.14. Consideration should be given to expanding the school if planned developments in 
the Rownhams area (north of the City) are likely to lead to an increase in required 
spaces. 

  

3. Central 

3.1. Regents Park Community College LA Maintained (Regents Park Learning Community Trust) 

3.2. Regents Park Community College has been rated Good by Ofsted and is generally 
oversubscribed. The school has a Net Capacity Assessment (NCA) which suggests 
it is larger than its Planned Admission Number (PAN) however the school has 
moved from single sex to mixed sex provision and this has limited the available 
space for expansion. While the school sits to the west of the City centre, its 
catchment area has traditionally been from City centre primary schools which have 
seen a considerable rise in numbers in recent years. 

3.3. The most recent area guidelines for schools suggests that Regents Park would 
require improved science provision, enlarged and improved sports facilities and 
further work to the school’s toilets to expand to a PAN of 210 (from 150). The 
current dining arrangements, although just under guideline areas, are also 
inadequate for an increase in the school’s PAN. The dining hall is poorly sited for a 
school this size and is also used as a teaching space as the school has a shortage 
of available PE teaching space. Alternative arrangements have been considered by 
the school (i.e. an extra or portable servery) and should be supported were the 
school to expand. Improved sports facilities (and additional space) would offset 
some of the schools concerns around catering. 

3.4. The site has limited space for expansion but several possible routes were explored 
during the site visit. The most likely being the addition of a new sports-hall to 
replace an existing modular extension, relocating the PE classroom and Dance 
space to a ground floor extension to the main building. The second floor of this 
extension would provide the required science laboratories. Existing toilets in the 
school could be refurbished and improved in the same way as those on the ground 
floor of the school (recently refurbished). 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

14 
 

3.5. The school has a large hard play area separated from the school by a road. 
Improving access to this site and upgrading the surface to a Multi-Use Games Area 
(MUGA) would also provide additional PE space as well as outdoor play space 
(which is lacking on the main site). Safety and safeguarding issues would need to 
be addressed. Possible solutions during the site visit included road calming 
measures or the possibility of a footbridge. Either solution would require further 
development but it was felt that this should be explored to allow the school full 
access to all its outdoor space, including during break times, without the need for 
increased staff supervision on the road crossing. 

3.6. Based on the most recent condition surveys by Capita, the school currently has 
between £2,000,000 and  £2,500,000 of maintenance and repair works outstanding 
(when projected to 2022). This figure could be offset against expansion works 
which would also improve the condition of the school. 

3.7. Were the school to expand to a PAN of 210, the added space could be used to also 
take a bulge class in September 2022. 

3.8. Cantell Maths and Computing College (PFI) LA Maintained 

3.9. Cantell College has been rated Good by Ofsted. The school currently has a surplus 
of places which will start to fill as the forecast rise in population puts increased 
pressure on places in the City. The school was originally built to a PAN of between 
270 and 300. The nature of the site means there is limited access to outdoor space 
during break times and the larger increase may not be beneficial to pupils. 

3.10. To provide the school places required within the City the school should expand from 
a PAN of 230 to a Pan of 270 (9FE) from September 2017. 

3.11. The school could then take a Bulge Class (as required) in September 2018 and/or 
September 2019. However, given the current forecast, this would not negate the 
need to expand other schools at the same time.  

3.12. As noted above, there is a danger, therefore, that without further work by the school 
and intervention from the Local Authority surplus places may remain at Cantell 
College. Particular consideration should be given to the availability of transport from 
City centre primary schools to Cantell College to make Cantell the school of choice 
for parents in the central-southern area of the City. 

3.13. This again highlights the need to make each school in the City to be a school of 
parental preference. It is in the Council’s best interests to ensure Cantell College’s 
admissions continue to rise. 

 

 

 

 

 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

15 
 

3.14. St Anne’s Catholic School (Girls) Academy 

3.15. St Anne’s Catholic School has been rated Good by Ofsted and is usually 
oversubscribed. The school is on a restricted City centre site with only limited room 
to expand.  

3.16. The school have indicated that they could expand to a PAN of 210 (from 200) 
without capital works. A further increase to a PAN of 240 would be possible with the 
addition of extra space and the school have suggested an area on their site for an 
eight classroom block which would allow future expansion. 

3.17. The site visit at St Anne’s drew out some interesting areas for further consideration, 
including the use of land to the east of the main site to add a classroom block and 
create extra outdoor space for pupils. The use of local buildings, currently a mix of 
commercial, residential and/or houses of multiple occupancy (HMO) to form a new 
school block should also be considered. 

3.18. An increase in pupil numbers at St Anne’s will also require the addition of improved 
sports facilities. Much of the school’s excellent sports provision makes good use of 
off-site facilities. The school and pupils would benefit from an increase in activity 
space. The site visit identified one possible solution to rebuild the gym as a two 
storey build with added activity, performance, classroom space above. 

3.19. Given its location and popularity, St Anne’s should expand to a PAN of 210 from 
September 2019 and then to a permanent PAN of 240 from September 2021. 

3.20. St George Catholic College LA Maintained (Diocese: Voluntary Aided) 

3.21. St George Catholic College has been rated Good by Ofsted and has recently been 
awarded a Priority School Building Programme (PSBP) 2 bid to rebuild its science 
and technology block. Having spoken to the school, the Diocese and the Education 
Funding Agency (EFA), there is scope within this project for St George to expand in 
line with parental preference. 

3.22. In order to expand by 1FE (Pan 180) the school will require increased science and 
technology provision (2 extra Science and 2 extra Technology rooms) as well as an 
increase in classroom space. 

3.33. This provision could be housed in the PBSP2 block with the additional funding (for 
the expansion in numbers only) coming from SCC. This will need to be negotiated 
with the EFA in the early stages of planning.  

3.34. The preferred date for expansion would be 2021 (in line with the forecast need for 
places) and any additional space would need to be completed for September 2021 
to accommodate the increase in pupils in the City. This will also need to be 
negotiated with the EFA who have currently given no indication as to the proposed 
date of any works at St George. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

16 
 

3.35. If the new-build were to add space for the permanent expansion of St George (i.e. 
built in one phase), the added space would allow for possible bulge classes for 
September 2021 and September 2022, further alleviating the need for spaces in the 
City during these forecast peak years. 

3.36. Any expansion at St George would need to include the reconfiguration of the library 
and IT spaces within the school as well as an increase in dining space to allow for 
the increase in pupils. This would be a separate project (outside of the PSBP” bid). 
One possible solution from the site visit would be to reconfigure the entrance to the 
school, increasing the adjacent dining space and adding a new library resource 
centre at the front of the school. This project would be separate for the PSBP2 bid. 

3.37. It should be noted that while the school and Diocese have shown support for the 
principle of expansion, any growth would need the formal approval of the Catholic 
Diocese. 

  

  East 

4.1. The Sholing Technology College LA Maintained 

4.2. The Sholing Technology College is rated Good by Ofsted and is the school is 
currently oversubscribed. Its position within the Sholing campus of schools makes it 
a popular choice for parents and pupils in this area.  

4.3. The school is on a restricted site and lacks space for future expansion, being below 
the minimum total site size recommended in the Area Guidelines for Mainstream 
Schools. The school is particularly short of adequate space for its current 
curriculum due to restrictions on space and the recent loss of their library building 
(see below). 

4.4. The main school hall is below the recommended area for a school this size and is 
also used as the only dining space available to pupils, meaning it is restricted in 
terms of use as a valid teaching space. DfE guidelines recommend that a school 
this size should have a separate dining room (in this case an additional 214m2).  

4.5. The school has previously been expanded and this has removed much of the 
already limited outdoor space available to pupils. The only green space available to 
the pupils is a small picnic area, which is also the only available outdoor space for 
certain PE activities. 

4.6. The school’s Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) needs refurbishment (including 
resurfacing and new fencing) and remedial work is also required on the sports hall. 
Outdoor PE is currently restricted to a small area of land in the south-east of the 
site. Veracity Recreation Ground is close to the school but is open to the public and 
managed by Active Nation.  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

17 
 

4.7. According to the Head Teacher and pupil surveys the Veracity Recreation Ground 
has a bad reputation in the area and is not used by pupils outside of school. The 
school currently has use of the Itchen College sports field (shared with the College 
and other local schools) but a recent bid for an all-weather pitch on this site will 
mean the end of this arrangement. 

4.8. The school was considered for the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) 
programme before its cancellation in 2010 and a significant backlog of maintenance 
work remains. The newest block was completed in the 1990s and the school makes 
use of portable buildings to add much needed classroom space. 

4.9. In particular, the school’s library, previously housed in a temporary portable build, 
has been deemed unfit for purpose and is the subject of ongoing legal dispute 
between SCC and the contractor. These factors have added to the pressure on 
space within the school. 

4.10. The Area Guidelines for Mainstream Schools Guidance (June 2014), including 
Building Bulletin 103 (BB103), recommends a total site area for a school this size to 
be approximately 75,000m2. The Sholing Technical College is split over two sites 
(separated by access to Sholing Infant School) with a total site area of 20,546m2. 

4.11. In addition, based on the most recent condition surveys, the school has between 
£600,000 and £800,000 of outstanding repairs and maintenance works outstanding: 
a figure that will rise once associated costs are considered. 

4.12. In addition, the school’s windows, the majority which are single glazed, need 
updating and maintenance. There are ongoing associated health and safety 
concerns in terms of glass falling into the playground. 

4.13. Also, the shared access entrance poses a significant safeguarding issue which the 
school is keen to address. A second entrance is needed with remote/electronic 
opening to stop members of the public from accessing the site. A significant part of 
the boundary fence is failing and can be accessed from the residential areas. 

4.14. Given the location and popularity of this school (within the Sholing campus) the 
school should be expanded as part of a new-build on a larger and more suitable 
site. 

4.15. This will allow for an expansion of the school to a Pan of 240 (or larger if required) 
from September 2021. The added space could then be used for a bulge class in 
September 2022, increasing the Pan for that year to 270. 

4.16. The rebuild should take account of the school’s current position within the Sholing 
campus and any new-build could provide improved facilities for community sports 
access and pitches (including access for other local schools). The most suitable site 
would be the Veracity Recreation Ground. 

4.17. This would release the current site either for sale or retention as education use. As 
development increases in this part of the City there remains a need for primary 
places. Both Sholing Infant School and Sholing Junior School have been expanded 
but, as with the secondary provision, both lack suitable outdoor space for the 
number of pupils they hold. The Sholing Technology College Site could therefore be 
used for future primary school expansion. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

18 
 

4.18. In the interim, and up to the completion of any rebuild, there will be a need to 
manage the school site to ensure that pupils are safe and have the best possible 
environment in which to learn. 

4.19. A more limited expansion of the school could be achieved through reconfiguration 
of the school site. This would require a new library, dining and reception areas to 
the school; an upgrade of science laboratories and toilets; and an increase in 
classroom accommodation, including new food rooms and other specialist facilities.  

4.20. In addition, part of the Veracity Ground would need to be utilised to provide a safe 
all-weather pitch with changing facilities for the school’s sole use. The school’s 
current pitch could then be resurfaced as Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) to provide 
appropriate PE space. There is significant cost attached to this option and the 
overall issue of appropriate space would not be resolved. 

4.21. Even without expansion this school is in need of an increase in classroom space 
and significant remedial works in order to maintain its status as a school of parental 
preference. 

4.22. Chamberlayne College for the Arts LA Maintained 

4.23. Chamberlayne College is rated Good (with Outstanding features) by Ofsted. The 
school is not currently at full capacity and the available places at the school will 
need to form a considerable part of the expansion plans in the City.  

4.24. The school are keen to expand having been considered for the BSF programme 
before its cancellation in 2010. Despite recent work on new windows, etc. there are 
a considerable number of repair and maintenance works required as there are 
areas of concern (including some external walls) which are in poor condition. 

4.25. Despite being on a large site, the school has outdated and poor quality sports 
facilities that deter pupils and parents from choosing the school as a preference, 
despite good academic results. Other schools, both in Southampton and 
Hampshire, have better facilities and attract more pupils as a result. 

4.26. The school has use of the Chamberlayne Leisure Centre sports hall and changing 
facilities (managed by Active Nation) at a cost of £35,000 per year but this 
arrangement is far from ideal. The acoustics of the sports hall are unsuitable for 
teaching and Active Nation have recently added fixtures that prevent full use of the 
hall.  

4.27. Additionally, access is via a public (off-site) right of way and a five to ten minute 
walk from the school. As the school is low on numbers the PE staff are down to two 
so children are supervised by only one member of staff, both on the walk and while 
using the Leisure Centre changing rooms which are open to the public. As a result 
there are considerable safeguarding problems with this arrangement and it should 
be reconsidered). 

4.28. The school’s boundary fence also requires work as the local community use the 
school playing field as a cut through during the school day. The sports facilities on-
site date from the 1950s and the changing rooms and small gym are outdated and 
do not inspire pupils. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

19 
 

4.29. Internally, the school is in need of major refurbishment and update. Pupil toilets are 
in poor condition and need improvement; PE changing facilities are poorly placed 
and require significant maintenance; and the school’s gym is too small and, while it 
could become a good small activity space, requires considerable maintenance 
works.  

4.30. A recent Capita survey also highlighted issues with the heating system, including 
the boilers and heating pipes throughout the School, including in the relatively new 
science block. 

4.31. According to the most recent condition surveys, the school has in between 
£900,000 and £1,200,000 in repairs and maintenance works outstanding, which 
could be offset as part of this programme. 

4.32. While the size of the school’s Hall falls within the recommendations in Building 
Bulletin 103 it recently fell below the standards required by a Fire Risk Assessment. 
New fire-doors and double glazing may have rectified this issue. However, the 
school has no separate dining area (recommended as 184m2 in BB103) so the hall 
is not available as a teaching space for much of the day. 

4.33. The school lacks WiFi and as a result has utilised much of its spare capacity as IT 
classrooms (currently 9 IT rooms against a recommended 2 for a school this size).  

4.34. Two of the school’s technology rooms have been leased out to the Army, whose 
cadet programme also makes use of the school site and provides a much needed 
resource and revenue stream for the school. It is intended that this provision be 
allowed to stay on-site as it is a positive resource for the City. 

4.35. The school could expand to a PAN of 210 through the reconfiguration of 
classrooms, science rooms and specialist rooms but will require new dining space 
and updated and on-site sports facilities. 

4.36. An expansion to a PAN of 240 for September 2019 would be possible in the 
existing building. However, this would require two additional science laboratories 
(possibly in the existing library space), the re-commissioning of existing technology 
and food technology rooms and the addition of added technology and art/graphics 
classrooms in a phased programme of works. 

4.37. The school would also require a new dining space, and improved on-site sports 
facilities. This should include MUGA/All-Weather Pitch and on-site 4-court sports 
hall to eradicate the safeguarding and cost issues around the current arrangement. 

4.38. The sports facilities should include provision for the Army Cadet programme to 
maintain the revenue stream for the school and the excellent provision within this 
area of the City. 

4.39. The school will also require an expanded library and a considerable refurbishment 
programme to ensure it is a school of parental preference. 

4.40. Given the work required at Chamberlayne, the school should be considered for a 
rebuild on the same site. The school has space to accommodate a new-build on its 
current playing fields. This would move the school buildings closer to the sports 
facilities it currently leases but would not negate the need for improved on-site 
facilities at the school or a change in the current arrangements. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

20 
 

4.41. It is recommended that the sports facilities currently leased to Active Nation could 
be returned to the Council and put under the control of the school, with improved 
access and changing facilities to link the sites and safeguard pupils. The school 
would then manage the community use at the centre. 

4.42. Bitterne Park School LA Maintained 

4.43. This school will be rebuilt and expanded to a Pan of 360 as part of the Priority 
Schools Building Programme (PSBP) by the EFA. Final completion is due for 
September 2017. 

4.44. Woodlands Community College (PFI) LA Maintained 

4.45. Woodlands College was rated Requires Improvement by Ofsted in June 2014 but is 
‘taking effective action to tackle areas requiring improvement’. The school currently 
has a surplus of places which will start to fill as the forecast rise in population puts 
increased pressure on places in the City. The school was originally built to a PAN of 
240. 

4.46. To provide the school places required within the City the school should expand from 
a PAN of 180 to a Pan of 240 (8FE) from September 2018. 

4.47. The school could then take a bulge class (as required) in September 2019 and/or 
September 2022. However, given the current forecast, this would not negate the 
need to expand other schools before this date.  

4.48. As at Cantell College, there is a danger that without further work by the school and 
intervention from the Local Authority in terms of transport and parental preference, 
surplus places may remain at Woodlands College. 

4.49. This again highlights the need to make each school in the City a school of parental 
preference. It is in the Council’s best interests to ensure Woodlands College’s 
admissions continue to rise. 

4.50. Oasis Academy: Mayfield Academy 

4.51. Oasis Academy: Mayfield was rated Requires Improvement in March 2014 but is 
now ‘taking effective action to tackle areas requiring improvement’.  The school was 
built to a capacity of 900 pupils and has yet to reach capacity. The academy is 
considering options to increase classroom space to manage a changing curriculum. 

4.52. A significant increase in the primary school population in this area of the City could 
be exacerbated by new housing developments in Hamble and the surrounding 
area. As with developments in the Rownhams area, Hampshire County Council 
have indicated that they are not planning to increase local secondary provision and 
this will lead to an increased pressure on places in Southampton, either from 
displaced Southampton pupils or from parents/pupils choosing Southampton 
schools. 

4.53. Therefore, consideration should be given to expanding the school if planned 
developments to the east of the City indicate a change in the forecast. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

21 
 

DISCUSSION POINTS: 

5.1. This discussion paper has been put together to aid the next stage of consultations 
with schools, as well as to inform Councillors and officers. Therefore it does not 
contain a definitive plan for expansion of particular secondary schools. 

5.2. The findings above are dependent on further discussion, changing forecasts and 
detailed surveys and plans. There are any number of possible routes forward, 
however, it is recommended future expansion of Southampton’s secondary schools 
be constrained by the following guiding principles. 

5.3. Guiding Principles of Secondary Expansion 

 Surplus places at current schools will be filled (where possible) before further 

expansion of other secondary schools. 

 Expansion will be based on the local need for places and not by individual 

schools catchment areas (where they exist). 

 Capital works toward expansion of secondary schools will represent best value 

for money while also removing (where possible) barriers to parental preference. 

 Capital works will support the improvement of provision across the City and the  

 Planning will be by broad geographic area to ensure places are provided (as 

far as possible) where required. 

 Head Teachers, Governors, Dioceses and all relevant stakeholders will be 

consulted on any proposed change before decisions are made.  

This includes: 

 Bulge classes which will be used to manage the peak years of forecast 

admissions to 2022 to give flexibility to any planning. 

 Where possible bulge classes will utilise current or built spare capacity 

at schools (i.e. where a school is expanded to a final capacity but fills 

from Year 7). 

 If bulge classes are to be used at schools with no spare capacity (with 

the approval of Head Teachers and Governors), the temporary 

expansion of the school should support the principles above. 

5.4. The options outlined below are intended to encourage discussion and do not 

represent one final plan or any decision on the best way forward. It is intended that 

a full study be completed of all plans outlined in sections 2, 3 and 4 above in order 

to put in place an agreed plan which represents the views of all stakeholders and 

matches the guiding principles set out above. 

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

22 
 

5.5 Option A: Current Parental Preference 

5.6. The first option for discussion is based only on parental preference, using historic 

data on pupil numbers and admissions to forecast the need for places at individual 

schools. 

5.7. 
 

School Name 
2015 
PAN 

Expansion 
Expanded 

PAN 

September 2017 

Bitterne Park School 300 
PSBP completion to PAN 360 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
360/390* 

Cantell College (PFI) 230 
Expand to PAN 270 (within current NCA) 

Possible bulge class in 2019 
270/300* 

September 2018 

Woodlands College 
(PFI) 

180 
Expand to PAN 240 (within Current NCA) 

Possible bulge class in 2018 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

September 2019 

Chamberlayne School 180 Expand to PAN 210 (within current NCA) 210 

Regents Park School 150 Expand to PAN 180 (within current NCA) 180 

Upper Shirley High 150 
Expand to PAN 270 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
270/300*1 

St Anne’s RC School 200 Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 240 

Oasis: Mayfield 180 
Expand to PAN 210 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
210/240* 

September 2021 

Redbridge School (PFI) 210 
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2021 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

Sholing College 210 
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2021 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

St George RC School 120 
Expand to PAN 180 (new-build alongside PSBP2) 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
180/210* 

    

Oasis: Lord’s Hill 180 No Expansion Planned 180 

Total Current PAN 2290 Total Proposed PAN/Maximum Bulge 2820/3030* 

5.8. * Indicates Bulge Year to accommodate forecast peak. 
i  Upper Shirley High School (Hamwic Trust) have current plans for expansion in 2017. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

23 
 

5.9. The plan takes account of the guiding principle of surplus places and of the site 

visits to consider what is possible in terms of expansion for parental preference. 

5.10. It must be noted that parental preference is in constant flux and relying on historical 

parental preference data to forecast school places to this level will have inherent 

dangers. Across the life of a ten year plan parental preference is likely to change 

and the number of bulge classes in this plan reflects this and responds only to the 

numbers in forecast for each school. 

5.11. This plan maintains a forecast surplus of 2.5 per cent (in the peak year). 

5.12. However, the number of bulge classes used (8 in 2022/23 focused mainly in the 

east of the City) leaves little spare capacity for further expansion should it be 

required. Bulge classes should, in theory, provide flexibility to respond to a 

changing forecast but the option proposed above would leave very little tractability 

for change. 

5.13. Furthermore, this plan does not make reference to the quality of school buildings 

and facilities which is, in itself, one barrier to parental preference considered in this 

paper. It does not therefore meet the guiding principle of ensuring that all 

Southampton schools are schools of parental preference. 

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

24 
 

5.14 Option B: Need for Improvement 

5.15. A further option would be to focus spending where there is a clear need to maintain 
the principles of supporting improvement and removing the barriers to parental 
preference caused by a schools buildings, appropriate space and/or facilities. 

5.16. 
 

School Name 
2015 
PAN 

Expansion 
Expanded 

PAN 

September 2017 

Bitterne Park School 300 PSBP completion to PAN 360 360 

Cantell College (PFI) 230 
Expand to PAN 270 (within current NCA) 

Possible bulge class in 2019 and/or 2022 
270/300* 

September 2018 

Woodlands College 
(PFI) 

180 
Expand to PAN 240 (within Current NCA) 

Possible bulge in class 2019 
240/270* 

Chamberlayne School 180 
Expand to PAN 210 (within current NCA) 

Possible bulge Class in 2021 and/or 2022 
210/270* 

Regents Park School 150 
Expand to PAN 210 (Capital works required) 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
210/240* 

September 2019 

Upper Shirley High 150 Expand to PAN 270 (new-build required) 2701 

St Anne’s RC School 200 Expand to PAN 210 (within current NCA) 210 

September 2021 

Sholing College 210 
Expand to PAN 270 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2022 
270/300* 

Chamberlayne School 180 
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge class in 2021 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

St George RC School 120 
Expand to PAN 180 (new-build alongside PSBP2) 

Possible bulge class in 2021 and/or 2022 
180/210* 

    

Redbridge School (PFI) 210 
Bulge classes in 2022 and/or 2023 

(new-build required) 
210/240* 

Oasis: Lord’s Hill 180 No Expansion Planned 180 

Oasis: Mayfield 180 No Expansion Planned 180 

Total Current PAN 2290 Total Proposed PAN/Maximum Bulge 2820/3030* 

5.17. * Indicates Bulge Year to accommodate forecast peak. 
i  Upper Shirley High School (Hamwic Trust) have current plans for expansion in 2017. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

25 
 

5.18. The plan takes account of the guiding principle of surplus places and of the site 
visits to consider the improvement of secondary provision in Southampton to 
change the preferences of parents and children. An important aim of Building for 
Excellence is to ensure all schools have the opportunity to be schools of parental 
preference through improved facilities and safe, welcoming learning environments 
for all pupils. 

5.19. Five of Southampton’s secondary schools are in relatively modern or new buildings 
and one (Bitterne Park Secondary School) is due to be rebuilt through the Priority 
School Building Programme for September 2017. 

5.20. Six of Southampton’s secondary schools are in much older buildings. Many of 
these have been previously extended with additional blocks added as schools have 
grown over the years.  

5.21. As a result, at least three of these schools might be considered to be ‘land-locked’. 
Further expansion at these schools would need careful consideration and in at 
least one case the improvement of the schools would be best met by a rebuild to 
maximise space. 

5.22. Several were considered under the Buildings Schools for the Future Programme 
(2010) before it was cancelled and, as noted above, the older buildings have a 
considerable maintenance and repair backlog.  

5.23. An ever changing curriculum means these buildings often lack appropriate space 
and facilities and, as is the case at Chamberlayne, parents and children will often 
choose schools where facilities are more modern even where a school has shown 
excellent outcomes for children and young people. 

5.24. This plan maintains a 2.5 per cent surplus for September 2022. 

5.25. Again, careful consideration would need to be given to the use of bulge classes.  

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

26 
 

5.26. It has been proposed that a third option for discussion should focus on ‘lowest 
cost’. However, this discussion paper has avoided estimating cost options for 
Capital works in order to stimulate discussion around the best available options for 
expansion. The third option presented here is therefore one possible best fit which 
follows the guiding principles and the available options outlined by the site visits. 

5.27. 
 

School Name 
2015 
PAN 

Expansion 
Expanded 

PAN 

2017 

Bitterne Park School 300 PSBP completion to PAN 360 360 

Cantell College (PFI) 230 
Expand to PAN 270 (within current NCA) 

Possible bulge class in 2018 and/or 2029 
270/300* 

2018 

Woodlands College (PFI) 180 
Expand to PAN 240 (within Current NCA) 

Possible bulge in class 2019 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

St Anne’s RC School 200 Expand to PAN 210 (within current NCA) 210/240 

2019 

Chamberlayne School 180 Expand to PAN 210 (within current NCA) 210 

Regents Park School 150 
Expand to PAN 210 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge in class 2021 and/or 2022 
210/240* 

Upper Shirley High School 150 
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge in class in 2019 and/or 2022 
240i 

2020 

Chamberlayne School  
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge in class 2021 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

2021 

Sholing College 210 
Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 

Possible bulge in class 2021 and/or 2022 
240/270* 

St George RC School 120 
Expand to PAN 180 

(new-build alongside PSBP2) 

with 2021/22 and/or 22/23 1FE Bulge Year 

180/210* 

St Anne’s RC School  Expand to PAN 240 (new-build required) 210/240 

2022 

Redbridge School (PFI) 210 1FE Bulge Year September 2022 210/240* 

 

Oasis: Lord’s Hill 180 No Expansion Planned 180 

Oasis: Mayfield 180 No Expansion Planned 180 

 2290  2790/3030* 

5.28. * Indicates Bulge Year to accommodate forecast peak. 
i  Upper Shirley High School (Hamwic Trust) have current plans for expansion in 2017. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

27 
 

5.29. Further bulge years may be required to maintain a sufficient surplus of school 
places to take account of parental preference. It is proposed these be decided in 
association with schools. 

5.30. The following timeline is proposed for further work leading to 2022. 

Date Action Decision Required 

March 2015 Pilot School Capacity Survey/Site Visit  

 
DDN (RH) virement from Fire 
Risk Assessment to new budget 

(Deadline) June 
2015 

Secondary School Capacity 
Surveys/Site Visits 

 

July 2015 
Options briefings (Capita) to cost 
feasibility studies on all options 

Secondary Heads Conference 

(Discussion Paper)  

 

July – Sept 2015 

Feasibility Studies on all Options and 
Appraisal 

Officer Decision/Approval to 
Spend (required for feasibility) 

Programme Planning (Options for 
Consultation) 

 

Oct – Nov 2015 
School/Governor/Diocese 
Consultations 

Council Capital Board Briefing 

Finance and Capital Risk 

 

November 2015 
Expected completion of Provisional 
Feasibility Studies Options and 
Appraisal 

Council Capital Board Briefing 

November 2015 to 

February 2016 

Pre Statutory and Statutory 
Consultation on proposed expansions 
of PAN 

Council Capital Board 

Approval to consult 

Forward Plan 

3 February 2016 
Publication of Forward Plan (April 
2016)  

25 February 2016 Cabinet Report to Democratic Services 

15 March 2016  Cabinet Decision on proposed 
expansions and approval to 
spend May 2016 

Commission Expansion Works (Quick 
Wins) 

 Commission Projects (Expansions) 

 Feasibility and Design Work 

January 2017 Commence Procurement 

July 2017 RIBA Stage J – Sealing Contracts 

September 2017 First Expansions (within NCA) 

(from) August 2017 Commence Works 

September 2018 Expansions (within NCA) 

(from) September 
2019 

First Capital Works Expansion 
Available 

September 2021 Larger Capital Works offset to 2021  
 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

28 
 

5.31. This discussion paper, following further consultation with schools and Head 
Teachers, will form the basis of a briefing which will seek approval to spend on full 
condition surveys of each school and feasibility studies for any proposed projects. 

 Once these studies and further consultations are completed a more definitive plan 
for secondary expansion can be formed, with more accurate estimates of costs. 
This plan will then be presented to Council for approval to spend before 
commissioning the capital work required to create the proposed school places. 

5.32. Officers will also need to seek an indication of the Council’s vision, direction and 
priorities for secondary schools in the City in order to programme and prioritise a 
series of works to provide sufficient school places and to improve the condition of 
all secondary schools to ensure that all schools offer the safest learning 
environments for all pupils on an equal basis: securing the highest quality of 
learning for all and building for excellence. 

  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED: 

6.1. Build a New School: 
This option was previously discounted for the following reasons: 

 It would be disproportionately expensive relative to expansion of existing 
schools, owing to the need to build ancillary facilities and potential site 
acquisition costs; 

 There is a paucity of suitable sites (in terms of location and size) to 
accommodate such provision; and 

 The creation of such provision could create issues in the future if pupil numbers 
were to drop again, as it would not be as readily “mothballed” as expansions on 
existing sites. 

6.2. Creation of a City Centre Annexe School 
As opposed to a new school a City Centre Annexe would be an expansion of an 
existing school onto a second (satellite) site. The option has been discounted at 
present due to similar issues stated above. In addition, the planned satellite school 
was planned for the centre of the City while the highest pressure on school places 
is currently forecast in the east and/or west.  

6.3. Utilisation of Primary Schools: 
This option was considered in terms of the potential to create “all through” provision 
on primary sites. This option was discounted on the basis that there aren’t any 
primary sites in the city that would be of sufficient size, without the total redesign 
and rebuild of facilities. As stated above, such a proposal would be 
disproportionately expensive relative to the proposals included within this report. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

29 
 

6.4. Reutilisation of recently closed School sites: 
This option was previously discounted primarily on the basis of these sites being in 
the wrong location for new provision, with regard to the anticipated spread of pupil 
numbers across the city. Other discounting factors included the expense of 
refurbishing the accommodation in question (bearing in mind the lack of 
maintenance since its closure), as well as the fact that the sites have typically been 
earmarked for disposal (with this process being fairly well progressed). 

6.5. Approach Hampshire to provide additional places: 

Whilst a number of families do exercise their right to attend a school outside the 
City, we would seek to provide the opportunity for all residents who want to, to 
access the excellent provision already in Southampton. If all our schools are rated 
‘Good’ or better, the number leaving the city, currently approximately 200 children 
per year, is likely to reduce. In addition, ongoing discussions with Hampshire 
County Council have indicated that they are not intending to expand secondary 
provision close to the Southampton border and that, in fact, they may expect the 
number of Southampton-based pupils attending Hampshire schools to reduce in 
the coming years, as their own indigenous population increase works its way 
through to the secondary sector. 

  

RESOURCE/POLICY/FINANCIAL/LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

7.1. The Department for Education currently issue an annual un-ring-fenced Basic 
Need capital grant to assist Local Authorities with expansion of the school estate 
(maintained schools and academies) due to increases in pupil numbers.  The total 
unallocated Basic Need grant currently confirmed and available to the Council is 
£9.4 million (2015-17). Much of this has already been allocated to projects to 
increase capacity in the primary sector. 

7.2. The council has received additional Targeted Basic Need funding for some primary 
expansion projects e.g. St Johns Primary, so additional grant may be awarded if 
sufficient need can be demonstrated. 

7.3. Local Authorities have a statutory duty under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 
to ensure that sufficient school places are available in their area and to secure 
diversity of provision, increasing opportunities for parental choice. 

7.4. Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 (as amended by the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006) ensures that a Local Authority has a statutory duty relating to 
the provision of education that is of a high standard, guarantees fair access and 
opportunity for all and promotes the educational potential of every child. 

7.5. There is a presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools. 



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

30 
 

7.6. Several periods of consultation would need to take place before any PAN and/or 
building size increases are implemented. Any changes to admissions 
arrangements (e.g. PAN & oversubscription criteria) for all schools must be 
consulted on for a minimum of 6 weeks between 1 October and 31 January of the 
year prior to the arrangements being implemented. For example, to increase PAN’s 
in 2017/18, consultation would need to take place between October 2015 and 
January 2016. For community schools the Local Authority determines the PAN; for 
voluntary aided and foundation schools the Governing Body has this authority and 
for academies this responsibility lies with the academy trust. All admission 
authorities must determine admission arrangements by 28 February every year.    

7.7. In addition to standard admissions, the Local Authority (LA) must plan for the 
provision of places for children and young people who move into the area after 
places have been allocated, or at other times during the year. There is therefore a 
need for more places to be available than the forecast number of children in any 
given year. The DfE recommends a 5 per cent surplus to allow for parental 
preference. 

7.8. However, as a consequence of the changes introduced by The School 
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Mainstream Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013, Governing Bodies of all categories of mainstream school can 
now make the following changes to their schools without following a formal 
statutory process: 

 Expansion (enlargement of premises); 

 Alteration of upper or lower age limit by up to two years (except for adding or 
removing a Sixth-Form); and 

 Adding boarding provision. 

7.9. It should be noted that schools cannot expand or alter unless they have secured 
the required funding, accommodation and permissions (including landlord’s 
consent and planning permissions); and The LA (where it is the Admission 
Authority) will need to have consented to a change in the school’s Published 
Admission Number (PAN). 

7.10. It is therefore imperative that SCC work in partnership with all schools to ensure a 
clear plan for future expansion is in place to provide the best way forward for all 
Southampton’s children and young people. The Building for Excellence proposals 
are the first step in securing such a plan and ensuring our intention to secure the 
highest quality of learning for all. 

  

  



DISCUSSION PAPER 
Building for Excellence 

31 
 

Appendices/Supporting Information: 

 None 

Further Information Available From: Name: David Cooper 

 Tel:  023 8091 7501 

E-mail:  david.cooper@southampton.gov.uk 

 
 





BRIEFING PAPER

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2015/16 AND 2016/17

DATE: 23 SEPTEMBER 2015

RECIPIENT: SCHOOLS FORUM

THIS IS NOT A DECISION PAPER

SUMMARY:
This paper sets out proposals for the Council’s spending priorities within the Capital
Programme for 2015/16 and future years, in line with Council priorities.

Cabinet and Council approved £6.6M of expenditure to the Education and Children’s Social Care 
(E&CSC) Capital Programme on 15 and 16 September 2015 respectively for works taking place 
in 2015/16 and 2016/17.

Cabinet and Council also approved £1.3M additional funding for increased capacity at Springwell 
Special School following increased demand on special places. This is in addition to the £1.4M 
approved by Cabinet in March 2015. 

RECOMMMENDATION:

(i) Note the proposals.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS

1. To update school forum on the latest Education and Children’s Social Care (E&CSC) Capital 
Programme position in light of recent approvals given by the Cabinet (15th September) and 
Council (16th September). 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

2. None

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS:

3. Education and Children’s Social Care (E&CSC) Capital Programme 2015/16 & 
2016/17
The proposals contained within the E&CSC capital programme report represent the means by 
which the Council can best deliver its stated objectives and responsibilities in terms of school 
organisation and estate maintenance. 

This report provides an update on each scheme under two major headings as per below: 
 Capital Maintenance – based on the need to undertake significant works relating 

to health & safety and statutory compliance issues.
 School Expansion – based on the need to provide sufficient pupil places to meet 

demand, in line with the Council’s statutory duty in this respect.



4. Expansion of Springwell Special School Report
This report sets out the proposal for increased capacity at Springwell Special School following 
increased demand on special places. The reports seeks approval to add a further £1.3M of 
expenditure to the Education & Children’s Social care Capital Programme in addition to the 
£1.4M approved by Cabinet in March 2015.
The total estimated cost for the phase 1 of this project is now £2.70M, an increase of 
£1.3M from the amount added by Cabinet in March 2015. This is because the project is 
now based on a traditional build after no tenders were received for a modular build.
The proposed extension will provide 6 additional classrooms with all ancillary facilities, 
built to match the style and design of the existing school.

Appendices/Supporting Information:
Appendix 1 – Education & Children’s Social Care Capital Programme 2015/16 & 2016/17
Link to Education & Children Social Care Capital Programme 2015/16 & 2016/17 Report
Appendix 2 – Expansion of Springwell Special School
Link to Expansion of Springwell Special School Report

       

Further Information Available From: Name: Robert Hardy

Tel: 023 8083  3347

E-mail: robert.hardy@southampton.gov.uk

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3053&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3053&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3053&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3053&Ver=4
mailto:robert.hardy@southampton.gov.uk


BRIEFING PAPER

SUBJECT: Updates to School Funding Formula 2016-17

DATE: 23rd September 2015

RECIPIENT: Schools Forum

THIS IS NOT A DECISION PAPER

SUMMARY:
This paper provides an update on school funding formula for 2016/17 on the basis of 
information provided by DfE. The forthcoming Spending Review (not expected until 
October at the earliest) will set out further detail on key schools priorities and confirm 
funding levels for other grants and programmes.

In July 2015 the government announced that it was committed to further moves towards 
a fairer funding system, the details of which will not be known until after the autumn 
spending review. The earliest any changes could be introduced is for the 2017-18 
financial year.

RECOMMMENDATION:

(i) Note the proposals.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS

1. To update school forum on the latest information published by DfE on school revenue 
funding 2016/17. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

2. None

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS:

3. The forthcoming Spending Review (not expected until October at the earliest) will set out 
further detail on key schools priorities and confirm funding levels for other grants and 
programmes.

The Education Funding Agency’s Operational Guide has been published, to allow 
councils to start consulting with their schools on how the funding should be distributed in 
their area. Local authorities will submit their schools funding formula to the DfE in 
October 2014 (in draft form) and January 2015 (in final form).

However, in light of the Spending Review and any consequent changes to the School 
Finance Regulations, the Operational Guide may have to be updated and councils may 
have to review the planning and modelling they have undertaken.

Final funding allocations to each authority will be made in December, in line with the 
latest data on their pupil numbers



4. It remains the case that a school in one part of the country can receive over 50% more 
funding than an identical school in another part of the country. The Government is 
committed to making schools and early education funding fairer and will put forward 
proposals in due course.

5. Changes implemented in 2015/16 to the funding formula will continue into 2016/17. 
These changes have made a significant move towards funding being allocated based on 
the needs of pupils. 

6. The basis for allocation of funding will be as follows:
 The schools block per pupil unit of funding in 2016 to 2017 will be the same value 

as in 2015 to 2016. Those local authorities which received an uplift as a result of 
minimum funding levels (MFLs) will see that funding included in their base rate 
and the adjustments to include funding for former non-recoupment academies will 
also be consolidated

 The £390m fair funding increase in 2015/16 will be baselined into budgets, 
continuing into 2016/17 and beyond

 The early years block per pupil unit of funding in 2016 to 2017 will be confirmed 
after the spending review and will continue to be based on participation

 The high needs block funding will also be confirmed after the spending review. In 
the meantime, local authorities are advised to assume that it will remain at the 
same overall level as in 2015 to 2016

 DfE in-year cuts (£450m) – using capital and revenue sources. No impact on local 
government likely.

Authorities will continue to have flexibility to move funding between the blocks, provided 
that they comply with requirements on the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) and have 
the agreement of schools forum or the Secretary of State on any increase in centrally 
held budgets where such approval is required under the regulations.

7. The following elements are also expected in 2016/17, but will not be confirmed until after 
the Spending Review:

 There will be no change to the allowable funding factors through which local 
authorities can allocate funding in 2016/17 

 The Minimum Funding Guarantee will continue at 1.5%, which means that no 
school or academy can lose more than 1.5% of its per pupil pre-16 funding as a 
result of changes to the local funding formula 

8. As there are no material changes to the proposed schools revenue funding in 2016/17, it 
is proposed not to change to the structure of Southampton’s formula. The objective, 
subject to affordability, would be to retain the existing funding rates of each of the 
formula factors unless these had to change due to the introduction of a national funding 
formula. School funding allocations would vary only as a result of:

 Data changes, for example, number of pupils in each key stage, Free School 
Meals and so on; and/or

 The impact of the minimum funding guarantee and caps on those schools that 
gain under the formula which fund schools protected by the MFG.



9. The arguments in support of doing nothing and keeping the formula the same include:
 The government is planning to introduce a national funding formula so

changing things now could mean that we move in the wrong direction and
have to unpick it all in future years

 Funding Stability: schools know what funding they are going to get and
they can plan ahead

 Implementing chang  e against a background of real terms reductions is not the 
best time to implement alterations to the formula.

10. High Needs

There is no indication of any increases in the high needs block of funding for 2016-17. 
This will create extra pressures in in 2016/17 in this area. These cost pressures are 
being closely scrutinised and a further report on special schools funding review will be 
will be made to the October meeting of the Forum.

11. Early Years: 2 year olds
In 2015/16 funding for LAs has moved to a participation basis, with the count being a 
hybrid (January and October census) and not in line with 3 and 4 year old counts 
(January census). This will mean that the October census is crucial to securing the 
necessary funding. Authorities continue to lobby the DfE regarding funding rates as a 
lower rate will impact on the sufficiency of providers.

12. Early Years: 3 and 4 Year olds
The current 3 and 4 year old allocation will be updated retrospectively to account for the 
January 2016 census. The allocation is currently based on January 2015 census. There 
is a potential risk that from 2016/17 if the census begin to decrease year on year the 
resulting effect will be a reduction in DSG allocation, and direct childcare expenditure. If 
this happens there will be considerable pressure in relation to the early years block for 
qualifying services (such as high needs early years places etc).

The DfE are in the process of reviewing Early Years funding rates nationally due to 
concerns raised by the PVI sector over sustainability. The results of the consultation will 
be available in autumn 2015. Southampton has contributed to this consultation. A pilot 
for extended 30 hour per week childcare placements will commence from September 
2016 for participating authorities.

Appendices/Supporting Information:
None                                                    

       

Further Information Available From: Name: Irfan Khan

Tel: 023 8083  3785

E-mail: irfan.khan@southampton.gov.uk

mailto:irfan.khan@southampton.gov.uk



	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Southampton Schools Forum Constitution 2015/ 2016
	TOR - Appendix 1 -Draft TOR 2015-2016
	TOR - Appendix 2 -Members' Code of Conduct
	TOR - Appendix 3 -Declaration of Acceptance of Code of Conduct
	TOR - Appendix 4 -Register of Members Interest - blank new form

	7 Secondary School Expansion and Improvement 2015-2025
	8 Update On Education And Children's Social Care Capital Programme 2015/16 And 2016/17
	9 Updates to School Funding Formula 2016/2017

